DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Marissa Shaffer and Timothy Shaffer,

Petitioners,

Docket No. 19-0305

JUN 2 1 2019

William Bragg, M.D., General Anesthesia Services, Inc. and Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR APPEAL OF MARISSA SHAFFER AND TIMOTHY SHAFFER

Alex McLauglin, Esquire (WVSB# 9696) CALWELL LUCE diTRAPANO, PLLC 500 Randolph Street Charleston, WV 25302 304-343-4323 304-344-3684-fax amclaughlin@cldlaw.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The circuit court erred in finding that Plaintiffs did not submit expert testimony of a causal connection between the alleged failure of informed consent and the injuries suffered by Marissa Shaffer.
- 2. The circuit court erred in finding a lack of evidence of a violation of the standard of care for informed consent by Defendant CAMC.
- 3. The circuit court erred in finding a lack of evidence of harm to support a tort of outrage claim against CAMC for lying to Marissa Shaffer about the student's involvement in her epidural placement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from an unintended dural puncture ("UDP"), sometimes referred to as a "wet tap," which is a complication of a labor epidural that occurs when the guide needle is inserted too far and actually punctures the cover of the patient's spine during the administration and placement of the epidural. In this case, the epidural administered to Petitioner/Plaintiff Marissa Shaffer was during her labor, prior to the delivery of her first child. Ms. Shaffer alleges that, as a result of the UDP, she suffered extreme headaches for days immediately following the UDP, an inability to bond with her child, post-traumatic stress disorder ("PTSD"), persistent depression, and chronic headaches. She alleges that the depression, PTSD, and chronic headaches persist to this day. Her husband, Timothy Shaffer, has a derivative claim for loss of consortium.

I. Procedural History

On January 19, 2017, Marissa Shaffer sent notices of claim to Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc. ("CAMC"), General Anesthesia Services, Inc. ("GAS"), and William Bragg, M.D.

("Bragg"), in fulfillment of the pre-suit requirements of section 55-7B-6 of the *West Virginia Code*. Marissa and Timothy Shaffer commenced this civil action on March 10, 2017, by filing their Complaint against CAMC, GAS, and Bragg. The Complaint alleges that all three Defendants breached the standard of care for informed consent by failing to advise her that CAMC's student nurse anesthetist, a man who was later revealed to be named Garry Chapman, was going to assist Dr. Bragg in the actual placement of the epidural. The Complaint further alleges that, had the Defendants not violated the standard of care and informed Ms. Shaffer of Mr. Chapman's intended participation, she would have declined and asked that Dr. Bragg himself perform the procedure. Had the student not participated, the Shaffers allege, the complication would not have occurred, because the complication arose from the student's inexperience and difficulty determining where the needle was situated in relation to Ms. Shaffer's ligaments, the epidural space, and her dura and spine.

The Shaffers also allege, as a separate tort, that CAMC intentionally lied to Marissa Shaffer in a letter its administrator sent on March 20, 2015, which stated, "A review of your visit was conducted and we found that no student was involved in the epidural placement." JA 244. The Shaffers allege that this lie caused Marissa severe emotional distress. She thus seeks recovery against CAMC for the tort of outrage or intentional infliction of emotional distress. See syl. pt. 3, Tanner v. Rite Aid, 194 W. Va. 643, 461 S.E.2d 149 (1995) (quoting syl. pt. 6, Harless v. First Nat'l Bank, 169 W. Va. 673, 289 S.E.2d 692 (1982)) ("One who by extreme and outrageous conduct intentionally or recklessly causes severe emotional distress to another is subject to liability for such emotional distress, and if bodily harm to the other results from it, for such bodily harm.").

At the close of discovery, all three Defendants moved for summary judgment on various grounds. On December 27, 2018, GAS and Bragg filed their motion for summary judgment and accompanying memorandum of law. JA 24; JA 26. On January 9, 2019, CAMC filed its motion for summary judgment and accompanying memorandum of law. JA 40; JA 42. The Shaffers filed a single memorandum in response to both motions for summary judgment on January 18, 2019. JA 54. The circuit court held a hearing on the motions for summary judgment on January 22, 2019. JA 216.

On February 25, 2019, the circuit court, by separate orders, granted both motions for summary judgment. JA 4; JA 14. In those orders, the circuit court acknowledged that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to whether a breach of the standard of care for informed consent occurred (JA 8), but, focusing exclusively on a single question and answer in an expert deposition, the circuit court concluded that Plaintiffs had not provided expert testimony that linked the alleged deviation of the standard of care for informed consent to the UDP and subsequent injuries. JA 8–9; JA 12; JA 18; JA 22–23. The circuit court also concluded that the Shaffers failed to prove by expert testimony that CAMC (as opposed to Bragg and GAS) had violated the standard of care for informed consent. JA 18. Finally, the circuit court dismissed the remaining claim against CAMC for intentional infliction of emotional distress by concluding that the Shaffers had not produced any expert testimony to establish that CAMC's alleged lying to Marissa Shaffer about the student's involvement had caused her harm. JA 19; JA 22.

The Shaffers timely filed their Notice of Appeal with this Court on March 26, 2019, assigning seven distinct errors in the circuit court's reasoning. Those seven errors have been combined into three assignments of errors in the instant Appeal Brief. The facts relevant to those assignments of error, which are set forth immediately below, must include—in light of the circuit

court's focus on isolated statements by experts to the exclusion the actual and complete testimony of those experts—not only the facts surrounding the student's participation in Marissa Shaffer's labor epidural, the informed consent process, CAMC's subsequent lying with respect to the student's involvement, and Marissa Shaffer's physical and emotional injuries, but also some discussion of the testimony by the experts themselves, particularly the expert testimony of Gerald Bushman, M.D., Petitioner's anesthesiology and informed consent expert, regarding the causation issue, and of Dr. Bushman and Frank Ochberg, M.D., regarding the emotional distress caused by CAMC's persistent lying.

II. Statement of the Facts of the Case

A. Ms. Shaffer's epidural, consent process, and dural puncture

Petitioners Marissa Shaffer and Timothy Shaffer, Plaintiffs below, are married. On January 22, 2015, Marissa Shaffer was admitted to CAMC's Women's and Children's Hospital for the labor and delivery of her first child. Prior to her admission at CAMC, on October 7, 2014, she was presented with and signed a general consent form indicating (in paragraph 7) that she "understand[s] that CAMC is a teaching hospital, and that students in the health care sciences and resident physicians may observe and participate in my treatment under supervision." JA 242. That same general consent form also specifically reserved for Ms. Shaffer the "right to refuse any specific procedure or treatment when it is offered." JA 242.

Not long after she was admitted on January 22, 2015, Ms. Shaffer was seen by Bragg, an anesthesiologist, for the purpose of being administered a labor epidural. According to Ms. Shaffer and her husband, Timothy Shaffer, who was present at the time, Dr. Bragg first came in the room and asked Ms. Shaffer to sign another form. JA 97. Around 1:00 pm on January 22, 2015, Ms. Shaffer signed a more specific consent form, titled, "CAMC Acknowledgment of

Consent to Anesthesia," specifically consenting to anesthesia care at CAMC. JA 92; JA 243. Unlike the general consent form Ms. Shaffer signed more than three months earlier, the specific consent form for her anesthesia care made no mention of CAMC being a teaching hospital. JA 243. Also, the way that CAMC's specific consent form is worded indicates that Ms. Shaffer specifically "request[s] and authorize[s] Doctor Bragg and/or physicians employed or contracted by GAS, Inc. to provide anesthesia care for my surgery or procedure." JA 243. The specific consent form says nothing about the possibility of a non-physician or student performing her anesthesia care. JA 243.

It is undisputed that sometime after signing the anesthesia consent form, Ms. Shaffer was administered an epidural on January 22, 2015. It is also undisputed that her epidural resulted in an unintended dural puncture ("UDP"), commonly called a "wet tap," where the dura or covering surrounding the spine is inadvertently punctured by the epidural guide needle. A UDP or wet tap can result in spinal fluid leaking, loss of pressure, and severe headaches that result in "postural limitations" because sitting up or standing can exacerbate the pain.

There is a dispute, however, over who was involved in placing the epidural guide needle and how and when the UDP or wet tap occurred. Marissa Shaffer herself testified that, based on the verbal communication she overheard between Dr. Bragg and a "student," both of whom were behind her during the procedure, a student attempted to place the needle in her back, and the needle was still in the student's hands when she overheard Dr. Bragg declare that the procedure had resulted in a "wet tap." JA 94. Ms. Shaffer testified:

And then the student started placing [the epidural needle] and Dr. Bragg was giving him instructions. I guess he was too far and he kept saying, "Left." He would say, "Left, left." And then he did that for several minutes, maybe giving more directions that I didn't get. And then I heard him say, "Well, it's already a wet tap. I'll take it from here." And then I assume that's when Dr. Bragg started taking over.

JA 94. Timothy Shaffer, Marissa's husband, who was also present in the room at the time, testified that he could tell that the student started the epidural procedure from the body positioning of the student and Dr. Bragg, because the student was bent over Marissa's back. JA 97.

Dr. Bragg identified the "student" who was present at the time as a student nurse anesthetist at CAMC's School of Nurse Anesthesia named Garry Chapman. Dr. Bragg testified that he first "got the needle started in the correct trajectory," and then "Gary made an attempt to advance the needle unsuccessfully, at which point I took over." JA 99. According to Dr. Bragg, the needle was in his (Dr. Bragg's) hands when the wet tap occurred. JA 99. However, Dr. Bragg testified clearly and unequivocally that "the needle was in [student Garry Chapman's] hands at some point while it was in Ms. Shaffer's back." JA 99.

Ms. Shaffer testified that she was not told that the student was going to participate in the epidural placement, she was not asked whether she consented to the student's participation, and she was not given any the opportunity to say that she didn't want the student to participate. JA 94. She admits that she knew a student was present in the room, but testified, "I didn't know he was participating until he had already started." JA 94. Ms. Shaffer testified that she realized that the student was placing the needle "after I heard Dr. Bragg telling—giving him instructions." JA 94. Ms. Shaffer testified that she did not want the student involved in the placement of her epidural. JA 94. She testified that when she realized the student was participating, the needle was already in his hands and in her back, so she did not say anything. JA 94. In Ms. Shaffer's view, "it was too late at that point." JA 94.

According to Ms. Shaffer, as a result of the wet tap, she suffered extreme, posturelimiting headaches for approximately eight days, before the treatment finally worked. During this time, she was unable to care for or breastfeed her newborn infant son, and developed a severe depression that persisted for months, with moderate depression persisting much longer despite treatment.

B. CAMC's denials of a student's involvement in the epidural placement

camc's statements and testimony concerning the events surrounding Ms. Shaffer's epidural placement differ significantly from the accounts of Marissa Shaffer, Timothy Shaffer, and Dr. Bragg. While the Shaffers and Dr. Bragg agree that the "student" participated hands-on in the epidural—that he had his hands on the needle while it was in Ms. Shaffer's back—CAMC has denied that a student was involved at all in the placement of Ms. Shaffer's epidural. A couple of months after the event, in responding to a complaint from Ms. Shaffer about having been billed for treatment for the wet tap, CAMC's administrator, Dawn Schoolcraft, sent Ms. Shaffer a letter, dated March 20, 2015, in which Ms. Schoolcraft stated: "A review of your visit was conducted and we found that no student was involved in the epidural placement." JA 244. In that letter, Ms. Schoolcraft also informs Ms. Shaffer that "your concerns were reviewed by the Women and Children's Grievance Committee which has concurred with the results of this investigation." JA 244.

Ms. Schoolcraft's letter is not only noteworthy because it contradicts the testimony of Dr. Bragg, Marissa Shaffer, and Timothy Shaffer. Apparently, Ms. Schoolcraft's statement that "no student was involved in the epidural placement" is not what Ms. Schoolcraft herself had been told by the CAMC nurse anesthetist whom she asked to investigate, prior to sending the letter. According to Marion Jones, the lead nurse anesthetist (or "CRNA") at CAMC Women's and Children's, who was asked to investigate by Ms. Schoolcraft, she informed Ms. Schoolcraft that her investigation revealed that a student "was involved" in the epidural placement but that Dr.

Bragg believed he "caused" the wet tap himself. JA 103. Ms. Jones admitted that Ms. Schoolcraft's statement in the letter was not correct based on what Ms. Jones had told her, and that she had told her that a student "was involved in the epidural placement." JA 105.

Garry Chapman himself initially testified, in an affidavit he signed on February 24, 2017, between CAMC's receipt of Ms. Shaffer's notice of claim (sent January 19, 2017) and the commencement of the instant lawsuit with her Complaint (filed March 10, 2017), that "[a]s a CRNA student at Charleston Area Medical Center, I never placed an epidural." JA 85. In that affidavit, Mr. Chapman testified that he does not recall Ms. Shaffer, but that he knows (presumably based on his general practice at CAMC) his "only involvement in her care would have been to introduce myself as a student, take a history, explain the procedure, and set up the equipment necessary for Dr. Bragg to perform the epidural himself." JA 85. Chapman testified at his deposition that he never had his hands on an epidural needle while it was in a patient's back while at CAMC, but that an unknown number of times he had his hands on an anesthesiologist's hands while the anesthesiologist was inserting the needle in a patient's back. JA 107.

C. Expert testimony regarding whether the student's participation in the epidural placement caused the dural puncture

Petitioner's anesthesiology expert, Dr. Bushman, was clear in testifying at his deposition that Ms. Shaffer was deprived of the opportunity to decline the student's participation in her labor epidural by the failure of the informed consent process:

It seems to me we're here because she never understood that [Chapman was going to assist or participate with the actual epidural placement]. And that is not what the consent form says and her expectations, as she's articulated, seem to comport with what the consent form says, but that's not what the behavior that occurred was.

So you can parse it a million different nuance ways but it really doesn't make any difference. She did not understand, in my opinion that a trainee

was going to be placing her epidural. And that's the crux of it. She didn't have the opportunity, based on not having that information; of saying I don't want that. I want Dr. Bragg to do it.

JA 144.

Dr. Bushman also testified that but for the student's participation in the epidural placement, the wet tap would not have occurred:

The trainee's participation in her care is the most important part of causation. And that derives from the fact that when he could not position the needle correctly, that instead of withdrawing the needle and starting over and accomplishing what presumably is his usual very, very low rate of wet taps, Dr. Bragg started from where Mr. Chapman stopped. That doesn't change the risk of the needle malposition it perpetrates it.

JA 146.

Respondent's anesthesiology expert, John Sullivan, M.D., was also asked whether the trainee's participation caused Marissa Shaffer's wet tap. Dr. Sullivan stated: "It's possible. I certainly didn't feel as strongly as your expert witness [Dr. Bushman] did about that. He seemed to feel that that specific phenomena was directly linked to causation." JA 67.

D. Expert testimony concerning whether CAMC's lying about the student's involvement in the procedure caused Ms. Shaffer to suffer severe emotional distress

According to Dr. Bushman, "Mrs. Shaffer suffered more than the early and late complications of the 'wet tap.' She also suffered the extreme psychological abuse of the hospital denying on the part of the parties involved that there was an undocumented trainee involved."

JA 82. At his deposition, Dr. Bushman testified that Ms. Shaffer was "emotionally traumatized" by CAMC's behavior and referred to that behavior as "gas-lighting." JA 147. Frank Ochberg, M.D., a psychiatrist and another Plaintiffs' expert, testified that CAMC's and Chapman's lying about Chapman's involvement in the placement of the epidural caused "profound and lasting damage to the plaintiff." JA 189.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court erroneously focused on a single, ambiguous question and answer in Plaintiffs' expert's deposition—to the complete and total exclusion of the clear and unambiguous totality of the expert's testimony—in finding: "[Plaintiffs' expert] Dr. Bushman did not link the deviation from the standard of care during the informed consent process to the cause of Ms. Shaffer's injury." JA 8–9; JA 12; JA 18; JA 22–23. The single, ambiguous question and answer that the circuit court relied on was this: Plaintiffs' expert, Gerald Bushman, M.D., was asked, "Do you agree that nothing about the informed consent process caused the wet tap?" He answered, "Correct." There is *nothing* in that question or in Dr. Bushman's answer that suggests that Dr. Bushman was thinking of and applying the *legal* standard or *legal* definition of proximate cause for informed consent cases in the State of West Virginia, rather than the ordinary meaning of the word "caused" when he gave his answer.

In the ordinary meaning of the word, a lack of informed consent is never the "cause" of complications resulting from a medical procedure. What is said or not said during the consent process does not increase the risks of the procedure, increase the patient's organs' susceptibility to certain kinds of complications, or cause a surgeon's or anesthesiologist's hands to become unsteady. Rather, lack of informed consent deprives the patient of the opportunity to decline a procedure or aspects of the procedure that he or she reasonably might decline if the required information were provided to the patient. "In cases applying the doctrine of informed consent . . . a causal relationship, between such failure to disclose and damage to the patient, may be shown if a reasonable person in the patient's circumstances would have refused to consent to the surgery had the risks been properly disclosed." *Adams v. El-Bash*, 175 W. Va. 781, 338 S.E.2d 381 (1985).

In contrast to the confusion that resulted from the Defendants' and circuit court's patently erroneous focus on one ambiguous question and answer, the *totality* of Dr. Bushman's testimony on the causation question was so unambiguous, unequivocal, and unmistakable—that the lack of informed consent deprived Marissa Shaffer of the opportunity to decline the student's participation in her labor epidural *and* that the student's participation in her labor epidural caused Ms. Shaffer's dural puncture during the procedure—that when Defendants' expert, John Sullivan, M.D., was asked whether the student's participation caused Marissa Shaffer's wet tap, he stated: "It's possible. I certainly didn't feel as strongly as your expert witness [Dr. Bushman] did about that. He seemed to feel that that specific phenomena was directly linked to causation." JA 67.

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