# FILE COPY No. 19-0305

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

MARISSA SHAFFER and TIMOTHY SHAFFER,

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court did not err in granting summary judgment on Petitioners' informed consent claim. First, the Circuit Court properly considered Dr. Bushman's testimony regarding informed consent and causation. Specifically, Dr. Bushman testified that nothing about the informed consent process caused Petitioner's wet tap. JA 147-148. Petitioners argue that the question was ambiguous and that Dr. Bushman did not understand the legal definition of "cause," however, Petitioners' counsel did not object to this question or rehabilitate Dr. Bushman at the end of Respondents' counsel's questioning. Furthermore, Dr. Bushman did not change his testimony following his deposition on his errata sheet. SJA 279-280.

Second, the Circuit Court properly disregarded the causation opinions set forth in Dr. Bushman's Screening Certificate of Merit and the Addendum thereto. Per West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6(j) 2017, a Screening Certificate of Merit is not admissible as evidence in any court proceeding. Therefore, the Circuit Court properly disregarded Dr. Bushman's causation opinions as set forth in his Certificate of Merit.

Third, Dr. Bushman testified that the student's involvement in the epidural placement was the "most important part of causation." JA 146. However, Petitioners and their expert conceded that there was no medical negligence in this case. *Petition for Appeal* at p. 1, JA 151. Whether Dr. Bragg caused the wet tap himself or the student's involvement played a role is of no consequence to this case because the

standard of care in performance of the epidural was not breached. See e.g. Hamilton v. Ryu, No. 16-0856 (W. Va. Supreme Court, October 20, 2017) (memorandum decision).

Finally, this case does not fit the traditional paradigm of an informed consent case because Dr. Bragg met his duty of disclosure per the factors set forth in Syllabus Point 3 of *Cline v. Kresa-Reahl*, 229 W. Va. 203, 728 S.E.2d 87 (2012). Additionally, there is no allegation that Dr. Bragg did not tell Ms. Shaffer of the material risks of the procedure. *See e.g. Adams v. El-Bash*, 175 W. Va. 781, 785, 338 S.E.2d 381, 386 (1985).

In informed consent cases, there must be "proof of a causal relationship between the physician's failure to disclose information to his patient and damages to the patient." *Adams*, *supra*, 175 W. Va. at 785, 338 S.E.2d at 385 (citation omitted). Dr. Bushman testified that nothing about the informed consent process caused the wet tap. JA 147-148. Petitioners have failed to show that Dr. Bragg's deviation from the standard of care during the informed consent process caused any harm to Ms. Shaffer. Therefore, this Court should uphold the Circuit Court's February 25, 2019 Order granting summary judgment to the Respondents.

## STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is necessary pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because the parties have not waived oral argument and oral argument will aid in this Court's consideration of this case. W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(1), (4).

Oral argument should be set pursuant to Rule 19(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Argument is proper pursuant to Rule 19 because this case

involves assignments of error in the application of settled law and a narrow issue of law. See W. Va. R. App. P. 19(a)(1), (4). Because Petitioners are alleging errors in the application of settled law, the case is appropriate for a memorandum decision. W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(6), 19(g).

## **ARGUMENT**

## A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Petitioners appeal two orders from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, both dated February 25, 2019, granting summary judgment to Respondents. JA 4-13 and 14-23. This Court has long held that "[a] circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*." Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

When reviewing a Circuit Court's decision regarding summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard required of the Circuit Court. *Carr v. Michael Motors*, 210 W. Va. 240, 244, 557 S.E.2d 294, 298 (2001) (citation omitted). *See also Williams v. Precision Coil*, 194 W. Va. 52, 58, 459 S.E.2d 329, 335 (1995). This Court has held that "a motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Syl. Pt. 1, *Williams*, *supra*, (citing Syl. Pt. 3, *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Fed. Ins. Co. of New York*, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963)). A motion for summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to

judgment as a matter of law." W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(c). In Syllabus Point 4 of *Painter*, *supra*, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia stated that:

Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove.

Id. at Syl. Pt. 4 (emphasis added).

## B. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Per the Circuit Court of Kanawha County's February 25, 2019 Order granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment, the Circuit Court found that Petitioners presented testimony from Dr. Bushman that Dr. Bragg deviated from the standard of care during the informed consent process prior to the placement of Petitioner's epidural. JA 8 at ¶ 24. The Circuit Court further found that Petitioners did not present expert testimony that the alleged deviation from the standard of care during the informed consent process caused or contributed to Petitioner's injury, the wet tap. JA 9 at ¶ 28. As a result of these findings, the Circuit Court granted summary judgment on Petitioners' informed consent claim. For the reasons set forth herein, the Circuit Court of Kanawha County appropriately granted summary judgment to the Respondents on the informed consent claim because Dr. Bragg's alleged failure to disclose the SRNA's involvement did not cause any damage to the Petitioner.

## 1. Dr. Bushman's testimony regarding causation was not ambiguous.

Petitioners argue that the Circuit Court relied on a "single, ambiguous question and answer" in Dr. Bushman's testimony when finding that no causation existed on the

informed consent claim. *Petition for Appeal* at p. 16. Specifically, Dr. Bushman testified as follows:

- Q. Do you agree that nothing about the informed consent process caused the wet tap?
- A. Correct.

JA 147-148. Petitioners argue that Dr. Bushman was not applying the legal definition of proximate cause for informed consent cases at the time he rendered his answer. *Petition for Appeal* at p. 16.

Dr. Bushman is Petitioners' retained anesthesia expert. As a retained medical expert, Petitioners' counsel would have had the opportunity to discuss and explore his opinions with him prior to his deposition. Petitioners' counsel would have had the opportunity to explain and prepare Dr. Bushman for the nuances of West Virginia malpractice law prior to his deposition. As a retained expert, Dr. Bushman should have been prepared for questions regarding his opinions and the cause of the Petitioner's injuries.

At the time the question was asked of Dr. Bushman in his deposition, Petitioners' counsel did not object to the question. Moreover, at the end of Respondents' six-hour examination of Dr. Bushman, Petitioners' counsel did not ask any questions to clarify or rehabilitate Dr. Bushman's opinion regarding informed consent and causation. JA 159. In fact, the only questions asked by Petitioners' counsel of Dr. Bushman were to clarify his personal notes. JA 159. Moreover, Dr. Bushman opted to read his deposition transcript, and did not change or correct his testimony regarding informed consent and the cause of the wet tap. JA 279-280. Therefore, Dr. Bushman's testimony on informed

consent and the cause of the Petitioner's injury is not ambiguous and was properly considered by the Circuit Court.

2. Dr. Bushman's Screening Certificates of Merit are not admissible as evidence to defeat summary judgment.

Petitioners argue that Dr. Bushman "explained the causal issues in greater detail in his Addendum to his screening certificate of merit (JA 100-01) – which, like his original certificate of merit, was also prepared as a sworn statement and submitted to the circuit court in opposition to the motions for summary judgment[.]" *Petition for Appeal* at p. 19. The Circuit Court properly disregarded the Screening Certificates of Merit and solely relied on Dr. Bushman's deposition testimony.

Per the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act ("MPLA"), West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6(j):

[A] notice of claim, a health care provider's response to any notice of claim, a screening certificate of merit and the results of any mediation conducted pursuant to the provisions of this section are confidential and are not admissible as evidence in any court proceeding, unless the court, upon hearing, determines that failure to disclose the contents would cause a miscarriage of justice.

W. Va. Code § 55-7B-6(j) (2017) (emphasis added). The MPLA is clear that Dr. Bushman's Screening Certificate of Merit and the Addendum to his Screening Certificate of Merit are not admissible as evidence in <u>any</u> court proceeding, including hearings on motions for summary judgment.

The MPLA provides that Screening Certificates of Merit may be admissible as evidence where failure to disclose its contents would be a miscarriage of justice. *Id.* In this case, Petitioners did not move the Circuit Court to admit the Certificate of Merit and

<sup>3</sup> Dr. Bushman's Screening Certificate of Merit appears at JA 80-84 and the Addendum to his Screening Certificate of Merit appears at JA 100-101.

its Addendum into evidence, and as a result the Circuit Court did not conduct such a hearing and did not find that the Screening Certificate of Merit or the Addendum was admissible as evidence. Therefore, the Circuit Court properly disregarded and omitted Dr. Bushman's Screening Certificate of Merit and the Addendum to his Screening Certificate of Merit as evidence when considering Respondents' summary judgment motions in this matter.

3. SRNA CHAPMAN'S INVOLVEMENT IN THE EPIDURAL IS OF NO CONSEQUENCE BECAUSE THE STANDARD OF CARE WAS NOT BREACHED DURING THE PLACEMENT OF THE EPIDURAL.

Petitioners argue that SRNA Chapman's involvement in the placement of the epidural made it more likely that the wet tap would occur. *Petition for Appeal* at p. 18. First, while Petitioners' expert, Dr. Bushman, believes that SRNA Chapman's involvement in the Petitioner's epidural placement was "the most important part of causation," Dr. Bushman conceded that even without the student's involvement, there was a "between 1 and 3 percent" chance of a wet tap occurring because a wet tap is a known complication of an epidural placement. JA 133, 146. Dr. Bushman also conceded that he believes that the needle was in Dr. Bragg's hands when the wet tap occurred. JA 134, 154.

Regardless of whether Dr. Bragg caused the wet tap himself or whether the student's involvement in the procedure led to the wet tap, the wet tap does not constitute medical negligence. Petitioners have conceded that there was no medical negligence in this case, as they are not appealing the Circuit Court's granting of summary judgment on the medical negligence claim. *Petition for Appeal* at p. 1. Furthermore, Dr. Bushman conceded in his deposition that Dr. Bragg did not deviate

from the standard of care in his medical care and treatment of the patient. JA 151. Dr. Bushman testified that a wet tap is a known complication of an epidural, and the fact that it occurred in this case is not a deviation from the standard of care on behalf of either Dr. Bragg or SRNA Chapman. JA 133. Dr. Bushman also testified that there is no standard of care that required Dr. Bragg to remove the epidural needle and restart the epidural procedure when the student could not find the epidural space. JA 110, 149. Therefore, as Petitioners concede, there is no evidence that the standard of care was breached by either Dr. Bragg or SRNA Chapman, regardless of whom caused the wet tap.

It does not matter whether Dr. Bragg caused the wet tap himself or whether the student's involvement played a role in causation because the standard of care during the epidural procedure is not at issue in this case. In *Hamilton v. Ryu*, this Court issued a memorandum decision on a similar set of facts. *Hamilton v. Ryu*, No. 16-0856 (W. Va. Supreme Court, October 20, 2017) (memorandum decision). The *Hamilton* plaintiff underwent elbow surgery by defendant, Dr. Ryu. The informed consent form contained the risks of surgery and also indicated that a resident may perform portions of the procedure. Following surgery, plaintiff argued that she experienced an ulnar nerve injury as a result of the surgery. Plaintiff asserted claims of informed consent, arguing that she would not have had the surgery if she knew a resident would be performing part of the procedure, and medical negligence alleging that Dr. Ryu deviated from the standard of care during the surgery. The case proceeded to verdict, and the jury found in favor of the defendant. *Id.* 

On appeal, the plaintiff argued that the trial court improperly excluded Dr. Ryu's surgery schedule, which would have shown that the resident performed the portion of the surgery that would have injured her ulnar nerve. This Court found that the plaintiff did not present expert testimony that the standard of care was breached during surgery. *Id.* Therefore, this Court noted that it was of no consequence whether Dr. Ryu or a medical resident performed the part of the surgery that caused the injury because the standard of care was not at issue in the case. *Id.* 

Similar to the *Hamilton* case, the Petitioners in this case have argued that it was the student's involvement in placing the epidural that led to the wet tap. Since the Petitioners have conceded that the wet tap is a known complication and does not amount to medical negligence, it is of no consequence whether SRNA Chapman or Dr. Bragg caused the wet tap. Regardless of which medical provider caused the wet tap, the wet tap is not medical negligence and any reference to who caused the wet tap is of no consequence to this matter.

4. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS APPROPRIATE ON PETITIONERS' INFORMED CONSENT CLAIM BECAUSE THERE IS NO CAUSAL LINK TO THE PETITIONER'S INJURY.

In regard to informed consent cases, this Court has previously found:

The doctrine of informed consent is a nebulous one complicated by semantics. However, quality physician-patient communication and the duty of disclosure occasioned by the doctrine of informed consent are not necessarily coextensive. Informed consent is implicated in situations which run the gamut from procedures to which a patient never agreed at all, to treatments, the medical implications of which were not fully communicated. ... Informed consent is required for a particularized, selected procedure or treatment modality which is affirmatively elected by the patient. A breach of the standard of care by a physician in an area outside of the narrow construct of a physician's duty of disclosure as to a recommended medical treatment or procedure may well be equally actionable, but sounds in traditional medical negligence.

Cline v. Kresa-Reahl, 229 W. Va. 203, 209-210, 728 S.E.2d 87, 93-94 (2012).

In regard to a physician's duty of disclosure during the informed consent process, this Court has held:

A physician has a duty to disclose information to his or her patient in order that the patient may give to the physician an informed consent to a particular medical procedure such as surgery. In the case of surgery, the physician ordinarily should disclose to the patient various considerations including (1) the possibility of surgery, (2) the risks involved concerning the surgery, (3) alternative methods of treatment, (4) the risks relating to such alternative methods of treatment and (5) the results likely to occur if the patient remains untreated.

*Id.* at Syl. Pt. 3 (citing Syl. Pt. 3, *Cross v. Trapp*, 170 W. Va. 459, 294 S.E.2d 446 (1982)).

It should be noted that in this case, Petitioners admit that Ms. Shaffer agreed and consented to the epidural placement. SJA 30. There is no allegation in this case that Ms. Shaffer was not adequately informed of the risks or medical implications of the epidural placement. JA 93, 140-141, 243. She was aware of the alternative methods of treatment – i.e. giving birth without an epidural – but requested that she have an epidural for pain relief. JA 34, 93. Therefore, Dr. Bragg met his duty of disclosure as described by the factors set forth in Syllabus Point 3 of the *Cline v. Kresa-Reahl* case.

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